OBITUARIES

Prof. E. J. Friedmann

PROF. ERNST JOSEF FRIEDMANN died in Cambridge on July 19 at the age of seventy-eight; he was working in his laboratory on the previous day. Born in Berlin and educated at the College Royal Français, he studied at the Universities of Freiburg im Breisgau, Berlin, Würzburg, Leipzig and Strasbourg, and took the degrees of Ph.D. in 1902 and M.D. in 1905 at Strasbourg. During 1905-7 he was a member of the staff- of the Institute of Physiological Chemistry in the University of Strasbourg. There he worked under Prof. Franz Hofmeister, to whose influence he attributed much of the success of his career and in whose laboratory he acquired his characteristic meticulous care in all matters of practical technique in the highest tradition of the German school. In 1907 he went to Berlin as head of the Department of Physiological Chemistry at the First Medical Clinic of the Charité, with the title of professor in the Medical Faculty of the University. During the First World War, he directed (1915-18) the Bacteriological Laboratory of the German Army in Brussels. In 1930, he went to Moscow as professor of biochemistry but left after six weeks. He then went to Basle and worked at the Institute of Physiological Chemistry of the University.

In 1932 Friedmann came to Britain to work in the Department of Biochemistry in Cambridge with Sir Frederick Gowland Hopkins. Shortly afterwards his wife was taken seriously ill and died after a long illness, during which everyone was most impressed by his devotion to her. He remained in Cambridge not only because the political conditions in Germany made it impossible for him to return, but also because he had found a congenial atmosphere in Cambridge where Sir Frederick Gowland Hopkins had befriended him and encouraged him to continue to work in his Department. In 1941 he joined a research team engaged in work of national importance for the Agricultural Research Council. In 1946 he came to the Department of Radiotherapeutics of the University of Cambridge, where he worked until his death.

Friedmann's first paper was published in 1900 and he continued active research from then until the end of his life. Many of his papers are now classical, including two papers, "Über die Konstitution des Cystins" (Bei. chem. Physiologie u. Pathologie, 3, 1-46; 1902), and "Die Konstitution des Adrenalins", (Bei. chem. Physiologie u. Pathologie, 8, 95-120; 1906). He then wrote a series of twenty-five papers under the general title "Zur Kenntnis des Abbaues der Karbonsäure im Tierkörper" published between 1908 and 1914 in the Beiträge zur chemischen Physiologie u. Pathologie, which during this time became the Biochemische Zeitschrift. Among his other earlier papers, Dr. Friedmann regarded as the most important those dealing with the constitution of mercapturic acids, the synthesis of isoleucine, the synthesis of surinamine and the formation of ketone bodies.

In Cambridge he started to publish papers on the chemistry of œstrogenic substances. The first of these was a letter in *Nature* (135, 622; 1935). At the same time his interest in sulphydryl compounds first appeared. His book entitled "Sterols and Related Compounds" arose from three lectures which he had given at the Institute of Biochemistry in Cambridge and was published in 1937. These lectures and the book had a great influence.

It was characteristic that Friedmann always kept in touch with the most recent work and modern approach and methods, as exemplified by his studies of radioactive organic bromo-compounds published in collaboration with A. K. Solomon and N. T. Werthessen in 1939. At that comparatively early stage he had already perfected methods for labelling organic compounds with radioactive halogens and advocated their use in biological research. Since 1946 he has published an interesting series of papers on anti-mitotic agents, particularly of the quinone series, which as a rule were tested on tissue culture. These papers were mainly written in collaboration with Mrs. I. Simon-Reuss and Dr. D. H. Marrian.

Most of us knew him only after he came to Cambridge; but we soon saw in him not only a great scientist but also a man of wide cultural background. Brought up in Berlin as the son of a wealthy banker during an era which was famous for its gracious living, he had a great appreciation of beautiful things. His main interests, outside his work, were books, antique furniture and Chinese art, and concerning these he had a tremendous fund of knowledge. He also liked to read detective stories when he felt too tired to work at night. Life had dealt him disappointments, but he never complained and never became embittered. His old-world courtesy was one of his most charming assets. He was always especially kind to younger workers, and never hesitated to spend a great deal of time discussing their work and helping them with their problems from his vast experience and enormous knowledge. He died in harness and, to judge by the vast amount of unpublished experimental data which he left, as active as ever. He leaves a host of friends who will cherish his memory. J. S. MITCHELL

Mr. T. D. Bourdillon

THOMAS DUNCAN BOURDILLON met his death on July 29 while climbing in the Swiss Alps. He had established a world-wide reputation both for his skill as a mountaineer and his more specialized achievements in the art of rock climbing. Through the writings of others he became well known to the general public as a member of several Himalayan expeditions, of which the last was the successful one led by Sir John Hunt in 1953. His contribution to this success lay not only in his inclusion as one of the strongest members of the climbing party, but also in his preparatory researches and development work on the oxygen equipment used, which has been described in the *Proceedings of the Royal Society*, B, 143, and in the *Alpine Journal*, 59.

From Gresham's School, Holt, Bourdillon went up to Balliol College, Oxford, in 1942, and was in residence there until June 1944, at which time he joined the Army. From then until April 1948 he served in Greece and Egypt, and returned to Oxford in October 1948, where he read the honours course in physics and received his degree in June 1950. On coming down from Oxford he joined the Ministry of Supply and was appointed as an experimental officer to the Royal Aircraft Establishment, Westcott, where